# annual report





First published by the Women's Legal Centre in 2010 Copyright Women's Legal Centre

Written by Pam Sykes Edited by Jennifer Williams and Cherith Sanger Layout and Design by Daniele Michelini Printing by Salty Print

The Women's Legal Centre reserves all of its rights. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, including but not limited to electronic, mechanical, recorded or photocopied means, without the written consent of the publisher.

All information, advice and/or opinions in this publication is of a general nature which should be used as a guideline only. Readers are encouraged to obtain legal advice or assistance in addition to the information, advice or opinions contained in this publication.

The Women's Legal Centre shall not be held liable legally or in any other way for any incorrect and/or inaccurate information, advice or opinion contained in this publication by any reader, state department or official and/or interested party or stakeholder.

None of the information, advice or opinions held in this publication is an indication of the official moral or political views of the funder, who made the issue and distribution of this publication possible, trustees, director and/or any attorneys of the Women's Legal Centre.

Photograph(s) by Neil Rusch - First appeared in: Cederberg Rock Paintings

All newspaper cutouts are copyright of respective publications. No parts may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, including but not limited to electronic, mechanical, recorded or photocopied means, without the written consent of the publisher(s).



First row, from left to right: Estelle Malgas - WLC, Stacey-Leigh Manoek - WLC, Shereen Mills - WLC, Shaamela Cassiem - WLC, Yasmin Carrim - Patron, Cherith Sanger - WLC. Second row, from left to right: Denisse Wolfenzon - Intern, Hoodah Abrahams-Fayker - WLC, Ingrid Johnson - WLC, Caroline Schneider - Intern, Aretha Louw - WLC, Sharon Brooks - WLC, Mushahida Adhikari - WLC, Nwabisa Ntshibelo - WLC. Last row, from left to right: Nitya Velu - Intern, Jody-Lee Fredericks - WLC, Jennifer Williams - WLC, Alison Tilley - Trustee, Cathy Masters - CMDS



7th Floor, Constitution House, 124 Adderley Street, Cape Town, 8000 Tel: 021 424 5660, Fax: 021 424 5206 · www.wlce.co.za

# Contents

Introduction	4
Chairperson's Letter	4
Director's Letter	5 7
Litigation Review	7
1. Gender based violence	7
2. Access to resources in partnerships	9
3. Access to land and housing	13
4. Employment rights	14
5. Access to health (reproductive rights, HIV)	15
Gruber Women's Rights Prize	17
Advocacy and Training	18
1. General support to NGOs in the sector	18
2. Advocacy and training related to areas of work	19
Regional co-operation	21
International Co-operation	21
Free Legal Advice to Women	22
Staff	22
Trustees	22
Funders	22
Financial Statements	23



# Introduction

The Women's Legal Centre is a non-profit, independently funded law centre. Our primary goal is to further women's equality in South Africa, with particular attention to the rights of socially and economically disadvantaged women.

The Centre has a vision of women in South Africa living free from violence in safe housing, free to own their own share of property, empowered to ensure their own reproductive and health rights and able to work in a safe and equal environment. We seek to achieve our goals through litigation and, where we have made gains, we publicise them though advocacy and training.

We work in five key strategic areas:

- Gender-based violence: We take up cases that improve the access of women and girl children to State protection from gender based violence particularly rape and domestic violence—and increase the protection of girl children from abuse in schools.
- Fair access to resources in partnerships: We take up cases to ensure that women receive a fair share of the assets of partnerships when these are dissolved, whether by death or separation. This involves ensuring that all partnerships are legally recognised, irrespective of religion and custom.
- Access to housing and land: We take up cases to extend tenure to women in their own right, and to prevent loss of tenure on dissolution of relationships.
- Access to fair labour practices: We take up cases that extend employment protections to vulnerable groups, develop the law on sexual harassment, and ensure equal opportunities in the workplace.
- Access to health care: We defend legal challenges to the right to make choices around reproductive health, and litigate to ensure that women have access to reproductive health care. We also take cases related to women's access to health care and the intersection between HIV/AIDS and our other strategic focus areas.

We also offer free legal advice to women, either assisting them ourselves or referring them to the relevant body, NGO or court. Most of the queries we receive involve the dissolution of partnerships, gender based violence and maintenance (see the Free Legal Advice table at the end of this report).

Our advocacy work focuses on providing support to other organisations and groups advocating for women's rights in our focus areas. We provide legal opinions, draft and make submissions to parliament, present workshops and draft legislation, regulations and policies. We also provide training to ensure that the gains won in court are communicated and implemented.

Finally, we provide information and training to educate women about their rights, and undertake capacity building activities on a regional level as part of our work towards the transformation of the legal profession and broader society.

# Chairperson's Letter

2009 was a landmark year for the Women's Legal Centre. Notably, we marked our tenth anniversary: an opportunity to reflect on and acknowledge a decade of work by the staff, trustees and legal teams who, under the guidance of our founding Director Michelle O'Sullivan, firmly established the Centre as a global leader in using the law to advance women's rights. Our new Director Jennifer Williams has proved to be a worthy successor, bringing a fresh and inspiring approach to the Centre's work.

I would also like to acknowledge our clients: the ordinary women like Thandiwe Radebe, Esme van Zijl and Nonkululeko Bhe who are at the core of our work. Their determination to see justice done has brought key legal issues to our attention, and enabled us to pursue cases to successful conclusions, often years later. We salute their courage.

Many others have made voluntary contributions to the success of the Centre's work, including our Board, patrons, volunteers and interns. Members of the legal fraternity and other professionals have contributed *pro bono* work and have been consistent supporters. They have been instrumental in the Centre's success.

Our tenth anniversay has seen the Centre consolidate under its new Director after a period of transition. Our focus, now that obviously discriminatory laws have largely been overturned, is extending in two areas: women's social-economic rights, and the rights of sex workers. In the former area we have devoted a great deal of attention to securing the rights of women in religious (mainly Muslim) marriages to a fair share of matrimonial property when those relationships end, whether through death or divorce.

In the area of sex work, we collaborate extensively with the Sex Workers Education and Advocacy Task Force (SWEAT). We have also appointed attorney Stacey-Leigh Manoek specifically to assist sex workers who face daily harassment, assaults and intimidation. The Centre is also participating in the national conversation around the SA Law Reform Commission's Discussion Paper on Adult Prostitution, which is the basis of draft legislation due to come out next year.

Our focus on sex workers may seem to sit uneasily alongside our work with religious groups, and is sometimes controversial. But in fact both of these areas of work are pushing the boundaries of the status quo in different ways, challenging perceptions, prejudices and interpretations of the Constitution. Women in religious marriages and sex workers are vulnerable in different ways, but they are both vulnerable groups – and it is precisely the rights of such groups that the Centre is committed to advancing.

The Women's Legal Centre enters its second decade with a solid financial status, and a clear purpose and vision of the future. We will continue to protect and advance women's rights, in our own work and in coalitions and partnerships with other organisations.

# **Director's Letter**

2009 was an exceptionally busy and exciting year. During the first part of this year, the Women's Legal Centre received the good news that it was awarded the 2009 Gruber Women's Rights Prize. Held in St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands (this year), the award ceremony was a wonderful opportunity to share the mission of the WLC with other individuals devoted to public interest work. Attendees included Arthur Chaskalson, the former president of the Constitutional Court of South Africa and Claire L'Heureux-Dube, previously a judge on the Supreme Court of Canada. As a co-recipient, the WLC shares this prestigious award with Leymah Roberta Gbowee. She helped bring an end to civil war in Liberia by mobilising Christian and Muslim women in a resistance movement and is currently the executive director of the Women in Peace and Security Network-Africa.

In addition, the WLC celebrated its 10 year anniversary, addressed by the new Chief Justice of South Africa, the Deputy Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and our client Thandiwe Radebe.

It has been a good time to reflect on the advances we have made, the challenges we have overcome and – most importantly – our strategies for the future. One of the goals we have identified is to develop the intersection between socio-economic rights and women's rights. One of our first significant moves in this direction was a successful application for admission to appear as a friend of the court in the Langdrif case in the Cape High Court late in 2009. The case deals with the Stellenbosch municipality's failure to provide adequate sanitation facilities in an informal settlement. We argued that this failure is a breach of women's constitutional rights to equality, dignity, health and a clean environment.

During 2009 we launched an application in the Cape High Court with a view to having a City of Cape Town housing policy declared unconstitutional. The policy resulted in houses being transferred solely into the name of the male partner to a Muslim marriage. We also successfully defended an eviction application instituted against our client, Ms Harris, by her ex-husband in a Muslim marriage. The Wynberg Magistrate's Court accepted that she was not an illegal occupier of her home on the basis that the City was the registered owner of the property at the time that the eviction application was made. The court made this decision in spite of the contractual right of her ex-husband to take transfer of ownership of the property in terms of the City housing policy that we are challenging.

In our gender based violence focus area, we represented POWA (People Opposing Women Abuse) in the Phaswane case. This dealt with the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development's failure to provide intermediaries for child witnesses and complainants in sexual offence proceedings in terms of the provisions of the Criminal Procedure Act. The Constitutional Court issued a supervisory interdict, compelling the Department of Justice to report on the adequacy of provisions in place for child witnesses and complainants in sexual offences cases. This judgment is a good illustration of the need for public interest litigation when the state fails to implement existing laws and where such failure violates legal rights.

Also in the area of gender based violence, we were asked to assist the legal team representing a client, Ms Bothma, who was trying to institute a private prosecution against a family friend who had abused her as a child some 40 years ago. The Kimberley High Court had ordered a permanent stay of the

prosecution on the basis that the defendant would suffer trial prejudice because of the long period of time that had lapsed since the sexual abuse took place. We assisted the team in their successful appeal to the Constitutional Court by providing expert evidence from a psychologist to explain the trauma linked to child sexual abuse and the reasons for the delay in the institution of the legal proceedings.

In the area of access to resources in partnerships, our major focus is still on ensuring access to legal protection for women who are married according to religious and customary rites. Early 2009 saw the culmination of the Gabie Hassam case, with the Constitutional Court confirming the order of the Cape High Court that extended the right to inherit to Muslim widows when their husbands die without a will. This case adds to the growing number of matters in which our courts have indicated that certain aspects of the current regime, which fail to recognise Muslim marriages, are unconstitutional.

In May 2009 we approached the Constitutional Court directly for an order that the state should pass legislation providing for the recognition of Muslim marriages. While the court declined to hear the case as one over which it has exclusive jurisdiction, the application drew national and international attention to the plight of widows in unrecognised religious marriages. It also provided us and the Commission on Gender Equality with an opportunity to engage with the Minister of Justice, which resulted in an undertaking to prioritise the passing of the legislation.

In the area of access to health and reproductive rights, we have advocated for many years for the removal of the reverse onus that women face in criminal cases of concealment of birth. Concealment of birth charges are often laid against women when the state is unable to prove a case of murder following the death of a newborn. Criminal provisions place the onus of proof on the accused to show that the baby was not born alive, which is extremely difficult to prove. We made both written and oral submissions to the Portfolio Committee on Justice and Constitutional Development in relation to this reverse onus as discriminatory against women. The Judicial Matters Amendment Act was passed in 2009 without the reverse onus.

Through the Centre's work in 2009 many positive gains have been made towards advancing women's rights despite the many challenges that we were faced with along the way. We will continue to persist in placing women's interest on the forefront in 2010 and will do so with even greater determination and more innovative methods in using the courts as a tool to realise women's constitutional rights.

#### Cape Times - 24/03/2009

# Muslim Marriages Bill heading for Cabinet

IOM NUMERAL PARTY OF THE PARTY

total the strength	AND DESCRIPTION OF
	Magin methods where a place
Address dealer tax vialence	and, thinks they desired.
the second states when a second states	- mails - second - brights' - brights
Manual Annual Anna Salara	and the present of presidents
interest and a labor land.	and and
a part with laws are laws	"The second headed for
the state state into any state	install watching the day had
section between the section.	dense in the second descent
Andreas and a standard second standard second secon	that belowing these spects that
No. Included of Autom	transfer in a size of the private state
and residence that I would	the second second second
Barringto Bill - Spirit strong	for constant proving the same
the straight contacts	"These indicates and the second
descripting to Stated, 1984	and the second states
Second in cases that is \$1, out	citeral editions ( or the boson )
Carl Da carganet di Una tenta.	Construction of the second sec
The Wanted   Longel Discours	Contraction, Name and Address of
designed a building over	and the second sec
Contract of the second second second second	contractly that of a straining plant in
the second second second second	man in the lost fights.
Contractory of the local design of the	The rest links that
and the second second second	second in fining incompanies
	and contain work the
Company of Manager of Line	Internet Starsweiten
And in case of the local diversion of the	A spring to be finite
Annual Concession in the	
manufactured, Spectrum of States	through all parents in all the owner.
In the dama thread from	Report to A resident of Internal of
dort on readent threat	
the second second second second	in the second down
the barrier barrier frame	while parameters had
and party starting to a serie	
And they finded out (Theorem 1)	and an in the second second
Second Second Second Second	suggest wards proof
the survey of productions.	in boarding to becould share
	Chains Strikens, and Son Std.
logging, the default of princi-	
tend of monthly and south	and the second s
	Water, Non-American Int.
The second second second	
sectors, des frances and	and a standard on the
the second	ing particular contractor
States in the second second	
and the second s	

#### Cape Times - 26/03/2009

Muslim 'anger' at bid to change marriage law

Cape Times - 24/03/2009

# Concourt deliberates on Muslim marriage claim

#### Cape Times - 24/05/2009

JUDGES PONDER THEIR POWERS

# Concourt gets to grips with Muslim marriage bill

# Cape Times - 22-28/05/2009 Marrying rights with tradition



# **Litigation Review**

# 1. Gender based violence

Violence against women remains the greatest obstacle to women achieving equality in South Africa today. The Centre works to set precedents that develop the positive duty of the state to:

- Prevent violence against women and girl children; and
- Reduce the secondary trauma that women suffer when reporting violence, both in the criminal justice system and in the employment sphere.

# **Bothma**

# Private prosecutions by survivors of child sexual abuse

This case follows Van Zijl v Hoogenhout, in which we successfully argued for the right of our client to bring a damages claim against the man who had sexually abused her as a child, despite the fact that many years had passed. Ms Bothma was likewise sexually abused by a family friend in her childhood, but only came to appreciate the consequences of the abuse later in adulthood. She sought to institute a private prosecution against her abuser, but the Kimberley High Court upheld his opposition to this on the basis that it infringed upon his right to a fair trial and would accordingly cause him trial prejudice. The Centre assisted Ms Bothma's legal team in their appeal to the Constitutional Court, providing access to expert testimony by a psychologist who explained the nature of the trauma linked to child sexual abuse, its consequences, and why the institution of legal proceedings had been delayed. We also assisted by providing research in relation to the case.

The Constitutional Court found in favour of Ms Bothma and extended the law in relation to the delay in instituting proceedings to take into account the trauma associated with child sexual abuse.

# S v Phaswane, Mokoena

# Treatment of evidence by victims and witnesses of sexual offences

This case is important for improving the conditions under which women and children who are victims and witnesses of sexual offences testify in court. It focusses in particular on provisions in the Criminal Procedure Act that give the court the discretion to appoint intermediaries during testimony.

The Centre represented POWA in an application to the Transvaal Provincial Division of the High Court, which ruled that the relevant sections relating to evidence given by child witnesses and child victims of sexual violence were unconstitutional and struck them out.

The case was then referred to the Constitutional Court, which disagreed on the invalidity of the sections and ruled that the existing provisions of the Act relating to the protection of witnesses, while adequate, were not being properly implemented. The Court issued a supervisory interdict, compelling the Department of Justice to report on the adequacy and implementation of provisions in place for witnesses in sexual offences cases.

# Ismael

# The duty of the State and school governing bodies to prevent sexual violence in schools

In this case an eleven-year-old girl was kidnapped, indecently assaulted and sodomised by an educator on the premises of her school. The educator was employed by the school governing body rather than by the Department of Education, and therefore fell out of the Department's jurisdiction. This case brings into sharp relief the responsibilities of governing bodies to ensure a safe learning environment. It also illustrates the gap in the law which allows the employment of educators who are not accountable to any professional body.

The Centre has launched a claim against the Department of Education and the school governing body, which is being opposed. The associated criminal trial was postponed to January 2010.

## Maritz

# The state's duty of care to protect women from repeat offenders

This case illustrates how the justice system can fail women: our client was raped by the same man twice, on the second occasion while he was serving a suspended sentence for the first rape.

The Centre obtained a legal opinion which recommended that a damages claim be instituted against the Ministers of Safety and Security; Correctional Services and Justice and Constitutional Development. The claim was launched in 2009.

The objective of the action would be to extend the duty of care on the state to protect women from repeat offenders, as well as obtaining some redress for our client.

# Old rape case will go to trial

A WOMAN who claims the was raped almost 40 years ago will go almod with her case at the end of October, despite the four-decade delay, the Women's Legal Centre in Cape Tawn said pentreday.

The Constitutional Court set aside a High Court ruling, serving the lower court had failed to take into account the nature of the alleged wrongdoing and the trauma associated with it, which resulted in the delay in instituting legid action.

The section approached the Constitutional Court after laying the charge for the rape, alleged committed between 1968 and 1970, had failed. It recognises the seriousness, gravity and impact of child sexual abuse and guarantees women access to the courts is order to address injustices that they suffered as children.

The accused, currently measly 80 rears old, denied the allegations and made an application in the High Court in Kimberley for a sermanent stay of private proacrisos, claiming it infringed his constitutional right to a fair trial. More of the second ho could be could have of the second ho could be

have called to give testimony had deal and be would not be able to wrify or refute many of the details provided as evidence because so much time had passed. The High Court granted the stay on the grounds that the woman "unreasonably delayed" instituing proceedings and that such a dury would came the around

irreparable trial prejudice. The Constitutional Court, however, held the High Court would only be in a position to test projudice during the trial, and that the accused's right to be assumed into-cent until proven guilty would positer him. "The decinion has developed the aw from a women's rights perpective," said Cherith Sanger, as mucrosy at the Wassen's Logal Contro, which acts as a consultant to the chainant.

Sanger said the 52-year-old claimant was positive about the case and confident of winning.

witnesses had been tracke down.

restantiative, Steven Groeneedd, will proceed with her case in the Kimberley Regional Magiorate's Court at the end of October 100%," a statement real.

### Star - 15/10/2009

# 40-year-old rape case goes ahead

A WOMAN who claims also was reped almost 40 years ago will go also d with her case at the end of the month, despite the long delay, according to the Women's Legal Centre in Cape Town.

Later week, the constitutional Court set which a high court railing, surjuing the lower court had failed to take into account the nature of the alleged wrongdoing and the trauma associated with 2, which resulted in the delay in instituting legal action.

The sociality, new inserty Ri particular, defines the designs - all design by committing between 1988 and 1970 - and made an application in the Kimberley regular court for a permanent using of private protecultor, datasting Ri infringed on bia rights to a fail right. Datast for the people has be could have called to give testimony had their and he would not be able to verify or routher same of the details provided as eridence because to much time had passed, he had stand.

The high-rourd granted the stay on the grounds that the 10-year-site claimsant "untreasonably delayed" instituting proceedings and that such a delay would onuse the accused irreparable trial productor.

# Wessels

# The state's duty to protect women and children from violence

The complainant was raped, in the presence of her 7-yearold daughter, by a man who had been previously charged with rape but was then released. The state had withdrawn charges against him after the case was postponed several times due to poor investigations by the police.

She sued the Minister of Safety and Security for special and general damages, both for the damage flowing from the rape and for damage suffered by her daughter as a witness. The Centre assisted Ms Wessels' attorneys by providing them with legal advice from a women's rights perspective in relation to gender based violence. In particular, we provided legal research to argue for the development of the law on general damages and obtained experts to provide expert evidence in relation to the impact of rape.

In the event, the case did not develop the law on general damages as the matter was settled out of court before the trial began. We were, however, advised by the complainant's attorneys that Ms Wessels received a substantial settlement amount.

# Barendilla

# Duty of the police to act on protection orders under the Domestic Violence Act

Our client approached the police with a protection order under the Domestic Violence Act and reported to them that her ex-husband had threatened to kill her. The police refused to act unless the client obtained a warrant of arrest. Her ex-husband subsequently murdered their daughter.

The Centre considered this as a test case for developing the law on the Domestic Violence Act to compel police officers to act on protection orders. Our research suggests that this failure of the police to act on domestic violence protection orders is common, for reasons ranging from not believing the client to misinterpreting their legal obligations contained in the Act. Our aim in litigating this case was to hold the state accountable for failing to fulfil its duty to protect women and children in terms of the Domestic Violence Act and the Constitution.

However, we decided that this would not be an appropriate test case, as the protection order in Ms Barendilla's possession was in place to protect her against abuse and not her daughter. This would create problems in relation to causation, which must be proved in damages claims. We have provided advice in relation to the criminal matter, the joint property and maintenance for her remaining children.

## **Buyisiwe**

# Unreasonable delays in prosecution leading to secondary traumatisation of rape survivors

We acted on behalf of the 1in9campaign in this case, in which the prosecution of our client's rapists was postponed several times over a period of four years. The case was finally moved to the Transvaal High Court and her rapists were convicted.

The Centre and Interrights completed an opinion setting out the rights of survivors of sexual offences in relation to criminal trials, and a possible legal strategy that can be used to hold the state accountable for the impact of unreasonable delays. However, this case did not have the appropriate facts on which to proceed. In addition, our client has been seriously traumatised by the criminal trial and elected not to proceed with any further litigation.

Citizen - 15/10/2009

# Lott

## Abusive husbands killed in self-defence

Ms Lott stabbed her ex-husband, who subsequently died, after many years of physical, emotional and sexual abuse. The Centre is representing her in the criminal trial. The case provides a promising opportunity to develop the law of self-defence by taking into account the impact of domestic violence, co-ercive control and battered woman syndrome. The Centre has applied to the Director of Public Prosecutions for the case to be withdrawn, and is preparing to take to it to trial should the application be refused.

# Kolisi

## Abusive husbands killed in self-defence

This is another case in which our client was charged for the murder of her husband after many years of physical, emotional and verbal abuse, both of our client and of their minor children. It represents a second opportunity to extend the application of battered woman syndrome to the law of self-defence.

The Centre agreed to represent Ms Lott for the purposes of making written representations to the Senior Public Prosecutor. The matter has been postponed to 19 January 2010 for further investigations.

# **Davids**

## Litigation as a form of domestic violence

Our client obtained a domestic violence protection order against her husband and reported several violations of the protection order to the police. He is currently facing charges of rape and assault against our client. When she initiated divorce proceedings, the husband brought an application to the High Court to have the client declared a vexatious litigant and to prevent her from laying further criminal charges against him.

Pleadings closed at the end of 2009 and the husband's attorneys withdrew as his attorneys of record, but the matter remains on the roll for hearing. Our discovery affidavit has been filed and the matter has been entered on the continuous roll for allocation of a hearing date. We are awaiting notification of a set down for hearing.

# 2. Access to resources in partnerships

One of our core aims is to ensure that women receive a fair share of marital and relationship assets when marriages or partnerships end, whether by death or divorce. Our cases in this area deal with the relationships and forms of marriage in our law where women do not yet enjoy full legal protection, such as religious marriages, domestic partnerships and some customary marriages.

# **Gabie-Hassam**

## Spousal inheritance in polygynous Muslim marriages.

This long-running case came to fruition in the Consitutional Court, which confirmed an earlier Cape High Court ruling that the right to inherit from an intestate husband's estate should extend to women in polygynous Muslim marriages.

We acted as a friend of the court, arguing that the Maintenance of Surviving Spouses and Intestate Succession Acts unfairly discriminated against Muslim women in such marriages. The Constitutional Court confirmed that both Acts are unconstitutional to the extent that they exclude women in polygynous Muslim marriages. The judgment confirms the rights of such women to inherit and does so retrospectively to 1997.

This case adds to the growing number of matters in which our courts have indicated that aspects of the current regime (which fails to recognise Muslim marriages) are unconstitutional.

# **Class action on Muslim marriages**

## Recognition of marriages concluded under Muslim rites

The state's failure to legislate for the recognition of Muslim marriages has meant that women in these marriages lack the protections enjoyed by women in civil and customary marriages when those marriages end, whether by death or divorce.

We have spent several years working on this issue, and in May 2009 approached the Constitutional Court directly for an order that the state should pass legislation providing for the recognition of Muslim marriages.

The Constitutional Court declined to hear the matter as one over which it has exclusive jurisdiction and we prepared to launch the case in the High Court in 2010. However, the application drew much attention to the plight of women in unrecognised Muslim marriages, and was covered in the national and international media. It also provided an opportunity for the Centre, together with the Commission on Gender Equality, to engage with the Minister of Justice to advocate for the passing of legislation. The draft legislation has been included in the 2010 parliamentary timetable for consideration.

We are dealing with several other matters related to the state's failure to recognise Muslim and other religious marriages:

## Sattar

Our client was married in terms of Muslim rites and claims that there was an express or implied agreement that the marriage was to be in community of property. Her ex-spouse disputes this.

The Centre took on this case to gain recognition that religious marriages can be concluded in community of property by agreement, developing the principles established in the Rylands v Edros case which recognised the Muslim marriage as a valid contract. The matter was settled out of court in our client's favour before a High Court ruling was made.

# Salie

Our client in this case was married to her husband under Muslim rites for many years, after which her husband divorced her using a *talaq* and attempted to evict her from the family home.

We sought an order that the Divorce Act is unconstitutional because it fails to provide women married in terms of Muslim rites with the same remedies that are available to women married in terms of civil marriages in community of property. We also argued that the Muslim Judicial Council is covered by the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, and that the *talaq* which ended the marriage amounted to an unjust administrative action. In the alternative we argued universal partnership, unjustified enrichment and breach of contract.

The matter has been postponed to 2010. The clients are, however, discussing the possibility of settling the matter out of court.

# Hendricks

During Ms Hendricks' marriage to her husband under Muslim rites they purchased a home, which was registered in both their names. When Mr Hendricks divorced her, he discontinued payments on the bond over the house and refused to allow her to take over the bond.

The Centre took on this case to develop the law on unjustified enrichment. We hoped to set a precedent for women in unrecognised marriages or relationships who purchase homes jointly with their partners, allowing them to obtain a court order to take over the home. Alternatively, they should be able to seek a judgment in money against their partners which can be used as leverage to secure the home.

The matter was settled in our client's favour before went to trial.

# Daniels

In this case the Constitutional Court ruled that spouses married under Muslim rites are entitled to inherit in terms of the Intestate Succession Act and the Maintenance of Surviving Spouses Acts. For Ms Daniels, this judgment meant that she was entitled to inherit the house she had occupied with her husband until his death in 1994. The Centre arranged for the house to be transferred into her name by a conveyancer on a pro bono basis and raised money to cover outstanding rates in respect of the property. The transfer has now been effected and Ms Daniels' home has been registered in her name.

# Adams

This is another case in which the parties were married under Muslim rites. Ms Adams contributed to her husband's estate during the marriage. He divorced her and she now seeks compensation for the extent to which his estate has been enriched.

The Centre has taken on this case to develop the law of unjustified enrichment in relation to claims for compensation for contributions to the joint estate in unrecognised marriages.

Summons has been issued and the matter has been opposed. Negotiations for possible settlement out of court have however commenced.

# Mohamed

This case deals with a divorce in terms of a marriage concluded in terms of Muslim rites. Ms Mohamed is seeking the application of the Divorce Act to her religious marriage, particularly in relation to the division of the marital property and spousal maintenance. She successfully made an application for interim maintenance in terms of Rule 43.

The Centre was admitted as a friend of the court but the Ms Mohamed's ex-husband was sequestrated before the matter was set down for trial. We obtained a legal opinion on the prospects of succeeding with a challenge against the sequestration but the opinion indicated that Ms Mohamed's prospects of succeeding with the challenge were slim.

# Vanker

Mr Vanker died leaving two widows; one marriage had been concluded in terms of civil law and the other under Muslim rites. The state opposed Ms Vanker's application to Cape Times - 16/07/2009

# Court rules in favour of Muslim widows

All the wives in a polygynous marriage will be able to inherit

#### ERNEST MABLES.

ALL the walkson of a policytessa Multis maring - intervel inte-miner Multim personal law - will be insided to dain from the count of a insidual who day without leaving a will, the Constitutional Court rained yorkerday.

Presidently, the Internate Socion Act recognized only one se scaling edifficult for all the req in a polygroup marriage to ember a chaire.

A polygonius coarringe is one in a main has more than over whereas polygamy can apply namings which involves more rec will or husband.

Forina Hassam approached the utional Cours last year to the encourse of her de A halanft or Phase etarrings. matried to her late husband Deplace Haman under religion

simplese Ebrahim Hasserts married a red wile according to Maslen-the According to Maslen **F**b n hot without Fotiona Hamare's suret. The man deal in 2006 viol leaving a will. esie. or of his

d to alke Fatma Har at a space under the radion Act. are hely the Wessers Case

as how in the entite of their decrement hashand, An index of communitational invalidity has no force until a in confirmed by the Constitutional Cost

The Constitutional Court also ruled that the art should be read as though the words "se spasses" approxed after the word "spasse" wherever it appeared to resting 1 of the act. It also rided that each surviving spose should inherit a drikl's chare of the estant, and ordered the minister of justice to pay Fatima Hassatel's costs in the gh most and the Costs

adament, it which all the 80 other palges associated, halpy liess Nashinde usid the te Succession Act differen wishi de Ma

She said the act also differ tisted between widows in motors Maillet marth Ξ. in polityreau ges, and herwoon identically. ore and shows to polygy the matriage. The act works to the down

women and are \$4 Number wrote in her pady said the effect of the re to affind the benefits of the

turtiages on the grounds of rigios, growing and tractial status, the act clearly prinketors a pastern

by endploy likestory and the sector

pologytone rearriages entered bas-in averablener with Madlin visco and the halterness did not inco

A SETTER DEAL Particus Research task work her clasins in the Constitutional Court for widows of a polygynous Maskin Musiler personal law — to clasm from the exterior of a husband who does without tending a will. Future TERF DEAL

significance attached to polygowan with the Maslim faith was no less significant than a civil marriage or

of legislature, which coarginalizes a claim of womens, reflects the mon-nity that the legislature and the

have her marriage under Muslim rites recognised (as in the

Gabie Hassam case) on the basis that the other marriage was a civil marriage.

This case clearly illustrates the need for law reform, which would be a more holistic and preferable remedy to the current piecemeal approach taken by the courts. We have been admitted as a friend of the court and the matter has been set down for trial in the Durban High Court.

# Jacob

Ms Jacob is another woman married under Muslim religious rites who is seeking the application of the Divorce Act to her marriage. The Centre was admitted as a friend of the court in this action in September 2009 and a costs order was granted against the state for this application. The matter was set down for trial in 2010.

# Prag

# The recognition of a duty of spousal support arising out of Hindu marriages.

Our client was married in terms of Hindu religious rites. After 15 years, during which she ran the family home and raised the children, her husband threw her out of their home with only her clothes.

The maintenance court awarded spousal maintenance to Ms Prag. We will now publicise this judgment widely within the Hindu community so that other women are empowered to apply for spousal maintenance.

# Nkosi

## Registration of customary marriages

Mrs Nkosi was married under customary law, but the marriage was not registered at the time. She sought registration after the parties had separated, but her ex-husband disputed the existence of the marriage. The Department of Home Affairs then de-registered the marriage.

The Centre is aware that many women married in terms of customary law are struggling to register their marriages in terms of the Recognition of Customary Marriages Act. We prepared a case that sought a judgment limiting the powers of officials to de-register a customary marriage or to refuse to register one. However, our client withdrew her case before it went to trial.

## Mkonqo:

## **Rights of domestic partners**

After our client's life partner was killed, the Road Accident Fund (RAF) rejected her claim for loss of her domestic part-



utional Court for wid

11

#### The New York Times - 24/07/2009

PERICAN PARK JOURNAL

# In a Complex Family, Death Adds to the Indignity

By BARRY BEARAK

PELICAN PARK, South Adrica – When Fatimu Bassam returned to South Adrica after a visit to Merca, her bashand, Ebeahim, mer her at the airport and said he had something important to announce. To further prepare her, he added cryptically, "It's not such a nice thing,"

Finally, he upit out the news, she recalled: He had taken an additional wife, Maggie, the young woman who had been their maid. An imam had performed the ceremony, Maggie, a Christian, was now a Mudim.

Islamic law is often interpreted to allow a man more than one wife, and by then Elenhin's involvement with Maggie was hardly a surprise. She already had given hirth to two of his children and was progrant with a third. But a lower's status is lower than a wife's, and Elenhim had promised never to marry this other bedinate half his age, a person Fatima considered 'n very simpld girl who washed our floors and cleaned our tailes.'

More indignity followed. Within a year, in 2004, Ibrahim died of a heart attack at age 55. He left no will. And when a court-appointed executor sorted through the modost entate, he began meting out each to Maggie, whose children were young, giving none to Fatima, whose four children were grown. In fact, the older wife was codered to laws the house she and her husband had built.

This expelsion was simply too much. "My hashand and I owned two stores, and I worked in them family to Sunday, 7 in the morning until a sit sight," she said. " gave my life to this man for 30 years. He took my youth away, and I because an odd lady. Why should I be the some HW without a routh"

She refused to move, instead filing a low-writ that on July 15 resulted in a handmark docision by the nation's Constitutional Court. North Alfrica legally recognizes polygomous marriages in line with indigenous African contenue, that is how President Agein Ziama in permitted bits three wives. But Musiliu moisses are not similarly acknowledged by the state. While the Hassam decision did not change that, it did ensure that when a hashand dim without a will in a polygamous Musilim marriage, each of his wives is guaranteed legal rights of inheritance.

About 835,000 Muslims live in South Africa, making up about a percent of the population. Pelican Park, the Cape Town subarb where Patima, 64, lives, is one of their enclaves. Publicity sucrounding her case has made her well known here, a here to some, an embarrassment to others.

Folygamy, however commonly practiced, is a touchy subject.

"These men running around with younger women, it's like a sickness," said Saliema Chafekar, who runs a small grovery. "Eva bear it all the time." She reflected further, "If my husband does it, I'll slit his throat."

M. S. Rawoot, an officer in a local morque, sold that whatever the rules of inheritance, the male prerogative to take additional sponses was important to preserve. "A shopkneper takes his assistant as a second wife, a doctor matrice his receptionist," he said. "It's done very quirtly. The important thing is not to create a second."

The South African press has portrayed Fatima as a seronged but resolute widers. Maggie, if mentioned at all, is referred to as Mariam, the Mudim name used in court papers. The younger woman's story is unexplored, leaving the implication she used Ebrahim as a sugar dashy.

But life, even at its simplest, is stubbornly complicated.

"I'm always made out to be the evil one," complained Maggie Hassam, now 35. "But I only have God to answer to, and God is on my side."

A young woman of mixed race, she was to when the Hamana, an Indian couple, found her in the nearby city of Worcester. They spoke her language, Afrikaana, and needed someone to work in their house and stores. She needed a job, any job. The pay was about 6y a month plan room and board.

Fatima was always rade to her, Maggie said, Ebrahim was nizer, "I was young and it was wrong, but he told me he got no love from her and his marriage was unhappy," the said. "I was scared but he kept on adding. In the end, I got used to him and got to like him."

Fatima, by contrast, does not nor Maggie as a victim. "She blamed my husband, and I told here, it was you, too," also ask. "When he started kining you and touching your hum, you should here come and told me, and I would have put a sing to it."

Ebrahim was a frequent philanderer, Farima said. Indeed, his wanderings included an affair with her. When she began seeing Ebrahim, he already was wed to a woman named Washila. For a time, the two wives shared him before Washila found another man and was granted a divorce.

One of Blorshim and Parima's four-daughten, Mehrunerosa Hassas, said, "My ishire was a great failter, even if he want's such a good husband." Assessing her parent's marriage, she said. "They fought a lot, over asything and everything. My most can be very difficult. She scenamed at him."

Given the circumstances, there may have been much to scream about. "I was better off when I worked in the aboy all day and only new him in bed where it was dark," Patima and. "I didn't have to look at his face."

Divorce would have meant sullying the family name, she said, Nevertheless, in June 1998, Fatima went to the area's Muslim Judicial Council and obtained a faikh, or annulment, ending the marriage. The couple then reconciled during iddah, a three-month waiting period, Patima said. They continued to live together.

Johan Jacoba, the executor of Ebrahim's estate, said he was never sure if the marriage still existed. "It's all very confusing, ion't it?"

Landmark dorisions are not necessarily reached with airtight facts. For her part, Maggie and she never understool the bigation and thought it all settled in zoon. She and her three children — ages 15, 12 and 8 — Jee in Woreners, paying 52n a month for an apartment in a shabby and dangerous red-brick housing project. She does menial work at a day case center.

"All those years Fatima whined about her house and property," Maggie said. "Now I suppose she got what she wanted."

Actually, Futima's two-bedroom house is the chief remaining asset in the estate, and it will probably be sold, with the proceeds then divided.

"Who needs it anyway?" the older widow said. "The roof is leaking, the geyser is broken."

Her bigger problem is with the past. "How could my husband — a proper, proper indian man — fall into a trup with such a girl? What was be thinking?"

Jose Silva contributed reporting.

#### The Witness - 03/11/2009

#### Muslim marriage in spotlight

Ingrid Oellermann

THE failure of South Africa's Divorce Art to give recognition to monogamous Muslim marriages and afford its protection to women married in terms of Islamic rites has come under the spotlight in the high court in Pietermaritzburg.

At the centre of the debate is a Pietermaritzburg Muslim mother, Ayesha Jacob, whose 14year marriage under Islamic rites to her husband, Abdul Kader Amod Ayoob, has ended.

Jacob is being supported in her legal battle to assert her rights by the Women's Legal Centre Trust (WLC) — a Cape-based organisation that aims to advance and protect the human rights of women and girls.

The WLC has been joined as an "amicus curiae" (friend of the court) in the case, which the organisation believes to be of interest to many other women who are similarly placed and find themselves without legal protection.

Jacob is asking the court to rule that the failure of the Divorce Act of 1979 to include parties to a monogamous Muslim marriage is unconstitutional and discriminatory.

Jacob is also seeking to win an order for maintenance for her and the couple's three children and an equitable division of the joint estate.

She has asked the court to find that since she and her husband did not conclude an antenuptial contract, their marriage is one in community of property.

In papers before Judge Jerome Mngani on Friday, WLC director Jennifer Williams said the trust submits that the Divorce Act should be interpreted to include a divorce action between the parties to a monogamous Muslim marriage; and that the failure to include Muslim marriages in the act will impact negatively on a "particularly vulnerable class of women" and violates a number of coastitutional rights.

Williams says the WLC has over the years often been approached for legal advice about the impact of Muslim personal law on women and children.

Cases in which it has litigated on behalf of clients highlight the vulnerability of women married under Muslim personal law, and their children, when those marriages dissolve or following the death of a spouse, Williams added.

She said the present case raises matters of public interest affecting many women who were married under Muslim personal law.

The trial will get under way in the high court on May 10 next year.



ner and the support she received in the partnership, saying she had failed to allege a legal basis for a duty of support. She launched proceedings challenging this decision on the basis that the RAF had in the past accepted such claims.

The Centre was admitted as a friend of the court and prepared to make submissions on the adverse impact on women of the failure to recognise a duty of support in domestic partnerships. We would submit that women do not necessarily have the power to negotiate the formalisation of relationships as marriages, and that women suffer disproportionate economic harm when domestic partnerships end.

At the end of 2009 we were awaiting a trial date.

# Paulse

## Rights to pension funds on divorce

Our client, on divorce, was awarded half of her ex-husband's pension fund. The provisions of the Divorce Act, in conjunction with the Pensions Act, prohibited women in our client's position from accessing their share of the pension interest until their ex-partners retired. In addition, the interest on the whole amount from the date of divorce to date of withdrawal accrued to the ex-partner only.

In the interim the law has been amended to allow spouses to access pension interest, but the amendment does not apply retrospectively. The Centre made representations to the Pensions Ombudsman on our client's behalf and she was awarded her share of the pension.

It has come to our attention that the Pension Ombudsman, in another case, has ruled that the amendment should apply retrospectively. However, this has been challenged in the High Court. We are considering intervening as a friend of the court should that case go on appeal.

We are also seeking to challenge the limited application of the amendment, which does not apply to state pension funds (see below).

# Ngewu

# Extension of the Pension Law Amendment Act to government pension funds.

Ms Ngewu was divorced in 2007. In terms of her Divorce Order she is entitled to a half share of her husband's pension fund. However, recent amendments to the Pension Fund Act (see above) do not extend to state pension funds. Ms Ngewu's husband is a member of the Post Office pension fund and so she cannot access her half share until he retires, and the interest on her share accrues to him only.

We believe that the prospect of succeeding with this case is high. We have prepared papers to seek an order

that the distinction made between private and state pension funds is unconstitutional and that Ms Ngewu should receive her share of her ex-spouse's pension with immediate effect. The application is due to be launched early in 2010.

# **Board of Executors**

## Constitutionality of boys-only testamentary trusts

The Centre was invited by the Cape High Court to act as a friend of the court in this matter, in which BOE is applying for confirmation that testamentary trusts specifying educational bursaries for boys only are constitutional.

We filed submissions that these provisions violate the constitutional right to equality. We await a set down date for argument.

# 3. Access to land and housing

Women's access to land and housing is often limited by the fact that they hold tenure through a male relative. This renders them vulnerable to losing their homes. The Centre seeks to challenge policies that indirectly discriminate against women and replace them with policies giving women tenure in their own right.

# Harris

## Registration of housing in the name of husbands only

Our client was married in terms of Muslim rites. Upon termination of the marriage she continued to occupy the marital home for many years after her ex-husband vacated the property. At the time that Ms Harris and her ex-husband had applied to purchase the property from the City of Cape Town the City's policy prohibited Ms Harris from applying to purchase the property and the agreement of sale of the house was concluded between the City and Mr Harris only as the "breadwinner". When they divorced, her ex-husband attempted to evict her from her home as an unlawful occupier under the Prevention of Illegal Eviction and Unlawful Occupation of Land Act.

The Centre decided not to take action directly against the City, but rather to defend the eviction itself. The basis of our defence was that Mrs Harris was not an unlawful occupier, since the contract awarding the house solely to her husband was unconstitutional. In addition, her ex-husband was not the registered owner of the house as the purchase price was not paid in full. Accordingly, the City was the registered owner of the property at the time that Mr Harris instituted the eviction application. The Wynberg Magistrate's Court confirmed that our client was not an unlawful occupier and that her ex-husband could not evict her from the house. His application was dismissed.

We have since developed a booklet to publicise this judgment and to inform women of their rights in relation to housing and evictions.

# **Group Action on City Housing Policy** Registration of housing in the name of husbands only

This case is an offshoot of our work in relation to Muslim marriages. We are specifically challenging the former housing policy of the City of Cape Town to register houses in the name of the husband only when spouses married according to Muslim rites applied for housing as a couple. We are arguing that this position clearly discriminates against women on the basis of gender and religion.

We originally intended to launch this application in the Equality Court, but decided that the High Court would provide a better forum in light of the merits of the client's case and the relief sought. The application was launched in December 2009.

# 4. Employment rights

Despite legislation and policy to reduce sexual harassment in the workplace, it is still prevalent. Many women still face

a workplace culture that renders them vulnerable to sexual harassment and unlikely to report it for fear of repercussions. The Centre seeks to reduce sexual harassment occurrence in the workplace and to develop the jurisprudence to take into account circumstances that may intimidate women and deter them from reporting sexual harassment.

# **Radebe**

# The state's duty of care as an employer to prevent sexual harassment

Our client in this case was a metro police officer for the Johannesburg Metropolitan Police Department (JMPD) who was raped by her supervisor and reported it. She then faced ongoing victimisation and was ostracised by her colleagues for reporting the rape, to the point that her job became intolerable and she had no choice but to resign. She then referred a constructive dismissal dispute against the JMPD to the Johannesburg Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA).

Sexual harassment is particularly common in the police service, domestic work and farm work sectors, but these environments are not conducive to reporting it. The Centre seeks to take on cases that will raise employers' awareness of their duty to actively prevent or end sexual harassment, as well as to specifically expose sexual harassment in male-dominated state or municipal departments and to

Citizen - 06/06/2009

# Rape victim will be paid 'soon'

We supported the alleged

victim in every way, but we

have decided not to pro-

long this matter unneces-

sarily. We'd rather see her

carry on with her life nor-

#### **OGEN VOS**

THE Johannesburg Metro Police Department (JMPD) this week almost found itself short of thousands of rands in moveable assets, after being backed into a corner over its treatment of a female police officer

who accused her superior of rape. The Sheriff of the Court paid a visit to the JMPD offices on Tuesday, threatening to attach furniture and equipment including chairs, desks, computers and couches. These were to be resold, and the proceeds used to pay the female officer the money legally owed to her by the IMPD.

Thandiwe Radebe had accused a superior, chief superintendent Amon Kanyago, of raping her in May 2007. She claims that the JMPD management and staff had subjected her to "ongoing degrading and indignifying treatment" after she'd complained - making her employ-ment intolerable to the extent that she had opted to resign.

Last year, People Opposing Wo-

men Abuse (Powa) referred Radebe to the Women's Legal Centre which successfully took up her case.

The Johannesburg Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) then ordered the IMPD to pay the victimised police officer severance amounting to 12

.

maily."

months of her previous salary, the highest compensation the Commissioner is legally permitted to award in such cases

down at least six months ago, but the JMPD has apparently neglected or refused to comply with it. Attorney Cherith Sanger from the

Women's Legal Centre eventually became fed up with JMPD's excuses, making the decision to attach their amets.

The IMPD has since received a tongue lashing from women's rights groups, who seem puzzled at the law enforcement agency's failure to comply with the stipulations of the law. The JMPD has simply refused to take responsibility for its actions, by not paying the monies owing to

our client," Sanger "This shows said. its lack of respect for the law and dismissive attitude of serious women's rights violations such as sexual harassencest.

The Centre's director, Jennifer Wil-

liams, and Powa's Carrie Shelver, yesterday echoed these sentiments unequivocally - noting that state agencies such as the IMPD were supposedly charged with upholding men's constitutional rights.

Williams said the fact that the JMPD had failed to set a properexample as a state agency was "cause for concern", and Shelver question-ed why the JMPD had remained "blind to their responsibility as employers", even after the CCMA rul-

ing. Shelver said the JMPD's intransigence showed its "flagrant disregard" for the rights of their employ-ees, the laws of the country, and the authority of the CCMA.

"This is particularly worrying be-cause the JMPD is a law enforcement agency, and as such should respect the rule of law

The IMPD's Chief Superintendent Wayne Minnaar yesterday defended the department's non-payment saying there had initially been some talk of opposing the judg-ment. He noted that the IMPD had initiated a probe when the allegations first came to light, saying both have found the allegations baseless. Minnaar said the money would likely be paid out "very soon". - upproversitizen.co.za.



In this case, the CCMA found in favour of our client and ordered the state to pay her 12 months' compensation, the maximum compensation that can be awarded. However, the JMPD failed to make payment of the award and we were required to issue a warrant of execution against them.

# Kylie / Brigitte's: Adult commercial sex work

# Employment rights of sex workers

Our client worked as a sex worker for 13 years, after which her contract was terminated. She was given a letter dismissing her and requiring her to vacate the premises (where she lived as well as worked) with immediate effect. She was not given a hearing and she disputes the reasons given by the brothel owner for her dismissal.

The Centre helped the client to bring a claim for unfair dismissal with the CCMA. Although some aspects of sex work are criminalised, our client also undertook legal work during her employment and we believe her dismissal was both substantially and procedurally unfair.

The CCMA declined to hear the case on the basis that the Labour Relations Act (LRA) does not extend legal protection to sex workers. The Labour Court, while accepting the argument that sex workers are employees in terms of the LRA, found that they do not qualify for a remedy under the LRA because of the illegality of sex work. The judgment has been taken on appeal to the Labour Appeal Court and is due to be heard in March 2010.

A victory in this case would be significant for women who are marginalised as a result of being sex workers and are thus not vested with labour and employment rights that other employees have, including constitutional recognition of dignity, equality and equal protection and benefit of the law.

# 5. Access to health (reproductive rights, HIV)

Much of the work done by the Centre in this area is focussed on defending the gains made around women's rights to reproductive health, which are continuously being challenged. The Centre also seeks to develop the jurisprudence around women's rights to reproductive health and access to health care services.

# Qavane

# Waiting periods for medical aid in the case of pregnancy

Our client was accepted into a medical aid scheme, but this was made subject to a nine-month waiting period when it became known that she was pregnant. We believed this policy to be unfairly discriminatory. However, when we researched the case it became evident that it would have a



minimal impact on indigent women. On this basis, and in accordance with the Centre's mandate to specifically advance the interests of black and socio-economically disadvantaged women, we decided not to proceed with the matter.

# **Forced sterilization**

## Forced sterilisation of HIV positive women

We are investigating several cases where women, most of them HIV positive, were sterilized without their consent. In partnership with the Health Economics & HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD) at the University of KwaZulu-Natal and Her Rights Initiative (HRI), a positive women's advocacy group, we have decided to embark on a more structured research and advocacy process to determine the scope of the problem and to establish baseline data on a national level. HRI and HEARD will partner with the University of KwaZulu Natal Health Faculty and other NGO partners to find cases in other provinces. We have so far identified six cases in KZN and two potential cases in the Western Cape and are awaiting the clients' decision on whether they wish to proceed.

During 2010 we plan to develop a broad based advocacy strategy to inform potential clients of the case and to develop partnerships with other NGOs to refer potential clients to us.

# Langrug

## Provision of adequate sanitation in informal settlements

Langrug is an informal settlement of about 1500 households in Stellenbosch. It is home to about 5000 people, a large percentage of whom are women and girl children. The settlement has only 94 toilets, of which more than 50 are not working. Families are forced to defecate in buckets and have nowhere to dispose of the waste, creating severe health and environmental risks. An application was brought by the Western Cape Provincial Department of Environmental Affairs to compel the municipality to provide sanitation facilities to Langrug. The municipality refused on the basis that it was planning to upgrade the settlement, although it did not provide any timeline for the upgrade.

The Centre intervened as a friend of the court to argue that a municipality's failure to provide adequate sanitation to an informal settlement is a breach of women's constitutional rights to equality, dignity, health and a clean environment. The case clearly illustrates the intersection between women's rights to equality and dignity and their socio-economic rights.

The matter is due to be heard in the Cape High Court in January 2010.

# Mangena

## The duty of hospitals to admit women in labour

Our client arrived at a hospital with early labour pains and was admitted, but nurses decided that she was not in labour and sent her home. During the night she started experiencing severe labour pains and her waters broke. She again attempted to access the hospital but was refused entry and gave birth on the pavement outside the clinic, assisted by passers-by.

The Centre is bringing a damages claim against the hospital, with the aim of setting due diligence standards for access to health care for child birth.

A preliminary medical examination was performed on the client and her baby to determine if there were any ill-effects as a result of the birth. The medical examination appeared normal for the mother, however the baby appears to be small for its age and has not reached the customary milestones. Further in-depth medical examinations to determine the extent of the underdevelopment have been recommended to Ms Mangena. She is currently considering whether she wants to proceed with the case.

## Mail & Guardian - 19/06/2009

# Sterilised without consent

Maro Kardas Helson

Women's rights articists have claimed that fourth African and Namibian public braith doctors are making HVindected women infertibe spatial their will.

we/WLC) has documented (2 cases of South Advisor women, most of them EDU indicted, who claim to have undergone what the bealth world calls

Promise Mthembu, a Wini/intentitymaander based in Durben, who is helping completite case, and exected sherifinations were happening 'in very large sense' of South values. Mithentities and assays of the parimeters to interface the pain access to interface and accesses the interface and accesses they had to us undergo the painedean. Silter told of a to pain other the state of the pain accesses the state of the pain accesses and the state of the pain access in access to the state access they accesses of the state accesses and the state of the state accesses the state of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state accesses of the state of the state accesses of the

r documented mand wh as that of a meaning of old patient at docum's documented, prop. the Auchan, in 2007 concert, disputly pulled "You also can't really add connerts when you're in blown. E comments any to you'r lago there form to have analistance with deforcy?, you're going to sign whatever's put i the form whatever's put i blowch African breakly deformed starts."

 ion Fidd Hadibe and he
could not comment on the claims.
In Namibia, the IOW
in planning legal action against the government

The group claims to have abconfirmed cases, seven of which will be aired in court by the end of the past. Abmed around that if

programming and access to your access of access to your access to your doubtion running access to your doubtion running access to your present your access to your access to your access to your access to your present your access to your access to your present your access to yo

Pretional in not the correct way of heshing at the issue." Provention of norther to at region are underfunded, being milion at works without services.

Namihian coordinator, said many the waters interviewed by the organisation 'didn't know what stortlands was. It was server explained in they they throught it was part of a p

guarante for women long with FDC. Even after the procedure, must women did not fully understand what had lappened. Yow woman delity even multise that the was strettland until die went book to the device to perform control. Multir said.

The Namibian bashly ministry has not explicitly called for stortinations, but the RW claims that according to local distors the issue was inferred to

restoring per against humbanential concepts of people basing the right over their own bolles, "Part and, "Part of their galaxies, and especially a woman, is the right to reproduce."

# **Gruber Women's Rights Prize**

In 2009, the WLC was the co-recipient of the 2009 Gruber Women's Rights Prize.

Each year the Gruber Foundation recognises individuals and groups in the fields of Cosmology, Genetics, Neuroscience, Justice, and Women's Rights. Established in 2003, the Gruber Women's Rights Prize annually awards activists and organisations for its dedication to promoting gender equality and peace building.



Trustee Teboho Molebatsi is interviewed by US media

"Our hope is to redress restrictive laws and customs that deprive women not only of their human rights but also of their ability to enrich the human condition." – Peter Gruber

Recipients are selected by an independent advisory board comprised of experts from the field. Efforts are made to ensure a fair process resulting in the selection of the most qualified and dedicated activist or organisation. This year, the advisory board comprised of Sakiko Fukuda-Parr (The



Trustee Teboho Molebatsi receives the Prize in behalf of the WLC

New School), Pinar Illkaran (Women for Women's Human Rights), Akua Kuenyehia (International Criminal Court), Thadabantu Nhlapo (University of Cape Town), Geeta Rao Gupta (International Centre for Research on Women), and Sakena Yacoobi.

Past recipients of this award include:

Navanethem Pillay, the current United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the first non-white woman to be seated in a South African High Court.

Professor Sakena Yacoobi, founded the Afghan Institute of Learning in 1995 and is the President and Executive Director of this NGO. She is also the co-founder of Creating Hope International and is a member of the Board of Directors for the Global Fund for Women.

Cecilia Medina Quiroga, a Chilean lawyer and former chairperson of the United Nations Human Rights Committee and judge on the Inter-American Court of Human Rights.

Sapana Pradhan-Malla, as a dedicated lawyer, she has led the way in public interest litigation and has played a key role in advancing women's rights in Nepal. Pradhan-Malla is the president of the Forum for Women, Law and Development and vice president of the Legal Aid Consultancy Center.

The WLC is truly honoured to receive the Gruber Women's Rights Prize and to share it with such remarkable and accomplished women and organisations, inspiring us to continue the fight for gender equality in South Africa. It is the support of individuals and foundations like the Gruber Foundation that enable us to continue to work for the advancement of women's rights.

# Global Fund for Women - 2009

# Current Grantee News

#### 2009 Gruber Women's Prize Awarded to Two Grantees from Sub Saharan Africa

Global Fund is excited to announce that two of our grantee partners have won this year's prestigious Gruber Women's prize. The two recipients are Leymah Obower, from grantee partner Women in Peace and Security Network – Alfoca, and Women's Legal Centre (WLC) – a nonprofit law center based in South Africa and a Global Fund grantee since 1999.



The prize will be awarded in a cenemony this fail celebrating the achievements of the recipients, who will share the \$500,000 price. Additionally, a special event celebrating the tenth anniversary of the Gruber Price Program will be held on July 1, 2008, at RociteMeter University in New York City

The official citation reads:

The 2009 Gruber Women's Rights Price is proudly presented to Leymah Roberta Glowee, and the Women's Legal Centre for two different but complementary kinds of activism:

Leymah Roberta Gbowee of Liberia, for helping to build peace in her homeland by mobilizing women in a resistance movement that was instrumental in finally bringing an end to the Libertan civil war, and for continuing to promote women-power in peace building; and the Women's Legal Centre of South Africa, for successfully challenging legal and cultural obstacles to women's rights through the courts expectally in the areas of inheritance and gender-based violence, and empowening women with free legal advice on the impact of court judgments in their favor.

# **Advocacy and Training**

# **1. General support to NGOs in the sector**

As part of our goal to support organisations that work towards the advancement of women's rights, we provide legal opinions, advice and other forms of legal assistance to other organisations so they can carry out their mandates unhampered by lack of legal expertise. We also train the staff of other NGOs to give basic legal advice.

During 2009 we provided the following assistance:

- Set up a meeting between the Department of Community and Safety and Sex Worker Education and Advocacy Taskforce (SWEAT) in relation to South African Police Service (SAPS) members abuse and harassment of sex workers.
- Provided SWEAT with a legal opinion on the prospects of success in obtaining a moratorium against the arrest and prosecution of sex workers and submitted a request with the Ministers of Justice and Constitutional Development and Safety and Security to this end. The WLC also supported SWEAT in publicising the Ministries failures to respond to its requests.
- Participated in SWEAT's media campaign for the decriminalisation of sex work.
- Participated in Tswaranang Legal Advocacy Centre's strategy workshop on the arrest of sex workers and training of peer educators.
- Provided SWEAT with a legal opinion on SAPS rights and duties in relation to the search and seizure of sex workers.
- Participated in Heinrich Boell Foundation and SWEAT's strategy meeting on engaging with parliament on the decriminalisation of sex work.
- Set up a meeting between the Judicial Inspectorate and SWEAT in relation to treatment of sex workers in prisons.
- On behalf of the 1in9 campaign, drafted and lodged a formal complaint to the Commission for Gender Equality regarding ANC Youth League President Julius Malema's comments on rape.
- Input into the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women civil society shadow report.

- Made the following presentations:
  - On sex workers legal rights in terms of arrests by the SAPS, the lodging of complaints against the SAPS and the legal procedures for laying a charge against a SAPS member.
  - On public interest litigation to Norwegian judges hosted by UCT's Democratic Governance and Rights Unit.
  - On strategic litigation at a UWC Community Law Centre workshop on Litigation in the African Court.
  - On strategic litigation at a Lawyers for Human Rights conference.
  - On feminist perspectives on working with men at the Men Engage Symposium.
  - On the Bhe case at a Norwegian University conference on socio-economic rights.
- Gave the following lectures:
  - Aspects of Gender law, Constitutional law and Matrimonial matters for candidate attorneys for Practical Legal Training for the Law Society.
  - Aspects of Gender law and Customary law for candidate attorneys at Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs for Practical Legal Training for the Law Soiciety.
  - Women and the Law lecture for University of Cape Town students.
  - Strategic litigation for students at Rhodes University as part of their Constitutional Week initiative.
- Input into the Jurisprudence of Equality Judges training manual for judges on the application of international gender instruments.
- In our capacity as a member of the 070707: Western Cape End Hate Campaign, we have conducted watching briefs and provided legal advice and assistance with hate crime cases. We also engaged with the Director of Public Prosecutions to ensure a swift finalisation of the infamous Zoliswa Nkonyana trial without further unreasonable delays caused by the court or the accused.
- Provided a partner organisation with legal assistance and advice on the handling of complaints of sexual harassment.
- Offered research and advice to Sonke Gender Justice on the Equality Court Project.
- Provided firms of attorneys and partner organisations with legal research on women's rights.
- Updated the Law Society's Practical Legal Training manual on Aspects of Gender Law.

# DPP to keep close eye on homophobic murder trial

#### LYNDON KHAN

PLAGUED by a string of postponements over three years, a suspected homophobic murder trial in Khayelitsha would now be closely monitored by the Directorate for Public Prosecutions to prevent further delays.

It follows protests and marches by gender activists and NGOs over the delays.

They demanded the trial be moved to the Cape High Court of a group of Khayelitsha males accused of murdering fellow shebeen patron Zoliswa Nkonyana because she was openly lesbian.

DPP provincial head Rodney de Kock confirmed yesterday that changes had been made to how the trial would proceed.

The case had been beset by postponements because of a number of changes in defence counsel and some of the nine murder accused not arriving for court appearances.

In all, there have been 20 postponements.

At a meeting last Friday of the Women's Legal Centre and the directorate, it was decided that the directorate would call a meeting before the next court date to ensure lawyers for the defence and prosecution were ready to proceed.

The directorate would send a representative to monitor proceedings at the next court date, scheduled for September 28, at the Khayelitsha Magistrate's Court.

They would also ensure sufficient time was allocated to the case in future.

A leading NGO, the Triangle Project, was pleased with the changes, as the Nkonyana family had been waiting three years for justice to run its course, said its deputy director, Mariow Valentine.

The Western Cape End Hate Alliance marched to the high court on Friday last week to demand the case be transferred from the Khayelitsha Magistrate's Court because the court was "incapable" of handling it.

Headed by the Triangle Project, the alliance lobbies for the equal rights of lesbians, gays, bisexuals, transgender and intersex people.

In addition to demanding the trial be moved, the march was to "create awareness of gender violence", Valentine said.

But the directorate had told him that moving the case to the Western Cape High Court would backfire because it would create further, and not fewer, delays because time still had to be allocated to hear the case. The high court's roll is usually full.

There was also "no legal mechanism" for placing the trial on the Cape High Court roll, as the accused had already entered a plea.

Valentine said the nine men accused of the murder had been arrogant in court by laughing and waving to their girlfriends in the public gallery.

Nkonyana, 19, was murdered on February 4, 2006 after leaving a shebeen in Khayelitsha when female patrons allegediy tried to force her to use a male toilet instead of a female one because she was openly lesbian.

When she refused and left to use a tollet elsewhere, a group of men followed her and bludgeoned her to death, in a suapected homophobic attack.

A female friend who had been with her that evening was the first State witness, giving shocking testimony on December 5, 2008. She is due to be cross-examined at the next court date.

The friend was placed in witness protection in the Eastern Cape and had to be transported to Cape Town for each court appearance. Evidence was heard at only one appearance.

hindon.khan@inLco.za

- Provided legal advice to women and distributed booklets on women's rights at Bellville and Blue Downs magistrates' courts as part of the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development's Women's Day initiative.
- Wrote a letter to the government, in conjunction with the University of the Western Cape Community Law Centre, on laws that discriminate against women.
- Wrote an article for Justice Today (the internal magazine of the Department of Justice) on the Recognition of Customary Marriages Act.

# 2. Advocacy and training related to areas of work

# Gender based violence

- We presented workshops on sexual abuse in schools for:
  - Ronwe Primary School in Paarl.
  - Kwa-Zulu Natal social workers.
- Published booklet on sexual abuse in schools and the new Sexual Offences Act.
- Trained Safe Cities community workers in Bishop Lavis on domestic violence, sexual abuse in schools and the new Sexual Offences Act.
- Published an article on the obligations of the state in relation to women and gender based violence for Skyways in flight magazine.
- Drafted submissions to the South African Law Reform Commission (SALRC)on the Protection from Harassment Bill.
- Drafted submissions on the decriminalisation model to the SALRC for their discussion paper concerning adult sex work.
- Assisted the 070707: Western Cape End Hate Campaign with a memorandum for a protest against hate crimes against LBTI women, and participated in a march to the Cape High Court to hand over the memorandum to the Department of Justice.
- Advised the Community Health Trust on the drafting of a booklet about gender based violence.
- Made written and oral submissions to the Parliamentary committee on Women, Children and Persons with Disabilities on the 11th year of the implementation of the Domestic Violence Act.
- Provided a free legal advice clinic for women at Vangate Mall (30 November 2009 to 4 December 2009) as part of

#### City Vision - 12/02/2009

Helping women most in need

#### ATACK REPORTER.

The Wessen's Legal Centre (WLC), is a wess-profit organization, established and run by wessen lowyers bounding on wessen's lowness rights.

WLC tables cause to intert to order to charge discriminatory laws against weators and advanced or men's rights to fasters low, land law, access to beside, workness, relationably rights and dostoutly and aread violatory.

Previously, wemen and girl children unable and indering and chains mathematic from decreased as takes.

For example, girl children and the wife of the Averaget could not inherty their father or hadnard's no asta after he first. We have been as a second to the observation of the second second

Bur's longivers partner and the faffier of her irea daughters had ded. Itte and her daughters could not inherit the being which they local in the many years or claim realistences from the deceased sotaris as they merepair indice and Itte and the document were meret marroad. The CC gracend as some in the

and her daught.

changed the law to allow longing in inferti, and closer, sectorerances from their faither's or frankoust's demased estate.

mased entries. In effect, the order resum that all senses and girl children can now inherit and claim maintenance trend their father's and hashand's keysand entries.

•Ef pois response any logid advice rescains mentant WLC on 03-421 1389 or stant their adfances this flower Pergri Neuron Building, 15-5 Adderley Renet, Riverrograditi, Cage Town.

Bie and one of her daughters with the Olio devid in the houses that blue and her stanghters inherited from her sis caused husband's extate

the Western Cape Network on Violence Against women 16 days of activism initiative.

10 10 20

- Made submissions to the Department of Justice in relation to the Prevention and Combating of Trafficking in Persons Bill.
- Gave workshops in Beaufort West and Stellenbosch in relation to the current criminal offences relating to human trafficking, and made a presentation on the Prevention and Combating of Trafficking in Persons Bill.
- Gave workshops hosted by FAMSA relating to Child Sexual Abuse and the Sexual Offences Act in Milnerton and Mitchells Plain.
- Made submissions to the SALRC on the inadequacy of the current law dealing with the cultural practice of ukuthwala (abduction of child brides).

# Access to resources in partnerships

- Wrote three articles for De Rebus Legal Journal:
  - The Govender case (Hindu marriages)
  - The Gumede case (customary marriages)
  - The Gabie Hassam case (Muslim marriages)
- Hosted workshop on the Recognition of Customary Marriages Act in Mthatha.
- Engaged with the senior maintenance prosecutor at Wynberg Court on flaws in the maintenance system.
- Written and oral submissions were made to parliament on the following:
  - An amendment to the Recognition of Customary Marriages Act.
  - The Reform of Customary Law of Succession Bill.
  - The Traditional Courts Bill.
  - Amendments to the Marriage Act.

- Participated in the Commission for Gender Equality Recognition of Muslim Marriages Campaign.
- Lecture to Rhodes University students on Muslim personal law marriages and law reform as part of their constitutional week initiative.
- Presentation to the National Association of Democratic Lawyers on religious marriages.
- Presentation to an African Gender workshop on Muslim marriages.
- Written submissions were made to the Department of Justice on the proposed maintenance amendments.

# Access to Land and Housing

- Presentation at Lawyers for Human Rights conference on emergency housing for survivors of domestic violence.
- Published a booklet on women's rights in relation to housing and evictions
- Hosted workshop for community workers at Safe Cities in Manenberg and Atlantis on women's rights in relation to housing and evictions.

# **Employment Rights**

- Published an article on sexual harassment for Labour Bulletin.
- Trained staff members of Sonke Gender Justice in Johannesburg and Cape Town on sexual harassment in the workplace.
- Training on sexual harassment at the Western Cape Land Claims Commission as part of their Women's Day initiative.
- Updated and reprinted WLC sexual harassment manual.



21

# Access to Health

- Published an article for the Marie Stopes corporate brochure on the constitutional right to reproductive health.
- Provided Marie Stopes with legal advice on authorisation and conditions for anti- termination of pregnancy protestors outside their premises in Cape Town.
- Prepared submissions on the need to regulate virginity testing
- Made inputs on the intersection between gender based violence and HIV for Project Concern International.
- Participated in the South African National Aids Council's Law and Human Rights Sector meetings.

# **Regional co-operation**

- Presentation on human rights and sex work at an African conference of sex workers.
- Presentation on the Radebe case at an Interrights conference on litigating women's rights in Africa.
- Lectured on strategic litigation and gender law to students completing their Masters degrees in human rights at the Women's Law Centre at the University of Zimbabwe.
- Provided research and other assistance to Centre for the Development of People on a case in which Malawian sex workers were compelled to undergo HIV testing and then charged with more serious offences.

The number of senior counsel who are black women is too depressing to

- Participated in the Women, Equality and Constitutionalism focus group of the African Network of Constitutional Lawyers.
- Meeting with the Dean of the Law Faculty Nigerian Human Rights Centre on strategic litigation.
- Made joint submissions with the Legal Resources Centre on the Draft Principles and Guidelines on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in the African Charter on Human and People's Rights.
- Provided Women's Organisation Network for Human Rights Advocacy (Wonetha) with a legal opinion on the legal strategy for challenging Uganda's Antihomosexuality Bill.

# **International Co-operation**

- Hosted learners from Gangsatra High in Sweden and made a presentation on gender based violence.
- Made input into a Human Rights Watch study on the application of international instruments in SA.
- Made presentations to:
  - Delegates from Ohio state university on the Centre and women's rights.
  - Norwegian students from University of Bergen.
  - Senator Bray and other US civil rights activists .
- Provided comparative research on Muslim marriages to the New York Times.

## The Sunday Independent - 19/07/2009

# Constitutional Court judges should be selected from a wider pool

#### AUTOR TILLEY

THE nomination of judges to the Constitutional Court is once again to the sportight, with four variancies in the court due to be filled this year.

One of the criteria for appointment will be ensuring that the rouri continues to reflect the diversity of South Africa, on torners of men and gender at load. The Judicial Services Commission

GSC, judged by its past practice, will be broking for skilled periots who supresent different life experiences. Where do use that defined toriste? The

first Constitutional Court had judges who dial not have experience as judges, and came Juan De route of activists and academics. That lack of experience was not aren an

a tiel to they approximent. The 200, service to have values the view is meand yours that, where appointment to the brack is generally conversed, they mend to appoint people who have had superimore as a celling indexe.

Will this be a criterion they apply to the appointment of italges to the Constitution al Court? Will they look to practitioners, rather than academics?

to the ranks of academics as well. There are a member of reasons for doing as including that academics bring a maps of skills and intervents that can only add value to the kind of tadgements that the

Constitutional Court must give, But one of the insues that must also be considered in that there are more wanes. In acceleration than there are in practice at the But, expectally at a more sentor level. e research Tor publicated, to rey knowledge in this particular second in this particular second in the Constitutional Court, mandemixis, mandemix at a strong women w into mulprise, distance. However, if you have administration of the allow, or weaker examination administration of uncertainty and the response that a subversarne adversar-

> anadown increment the manuface of women ratios for 1 women and a manufacture of the programment of protocols of the requests of protocols of the Base women wap timery comparison in a basedner to are init wohen it.

> > flexibility and requires long hours. The number of sector overaged who are black somern in too depressing to even tail about, flere, rare and gender boars conspire in ensure that there is only one black somern off.

Here in this prediction to be addressed, to means there is a pool of addressed and experiment women. Marks need white, available in the Swenty Dee Six, in experiminantion the Benefit' One may is to involve and disturbless the previous of administration of the Swenty Dee Six and Swenty Deep Hardwork and the matter and anguest the predictation of second an acting follows:

We must have prevenues which support change. Looking to the racits of existing sliks and judges is not sufficient for the transformation of the legal profession.

 Allien Tilley is a tracter at The Women's Legal Centre, is negltr peell law, firm which advances assume's rights by conducting constitutional lifetation and advances on peeller laws.



The JSE should look to the ranks of academics for Constituional Court Judge nominees, says the writer PIC

PICTURE ORIE COLLINGING

# Free Legal Advice to Women

The Centre handles a large number of queries from women seeking advice or from those seeking advice on behalf of other women. We help in these matters by referring women to the appropriate agencies for further assistance, and by providing relevant and useful information. Where the query has a relevant public interest component, the Centre will consider pursuing it. The following queries were dealt with during 2009:

Categories	
Divorce	335
Maintenance Act	213
Domestic violence	116
Inheritance	98
Muslim personal law	92
General	78
Custody and access	73
Labour	65
Customary law	64
Housing	59
Domestic partnership	57
Family	56
Pension	38
Evictions	30
Damages	26
Debt	25
Sexual harassment	21
Criminal	15
Rape	13
Health including HIV	7
Research	5
Child sexual abuse	4
Contract	4
Abortion	3
Interdict	2
Unfair discrimination	2
Sex work clinic	34
Total	1535

# Staff

Jennifer Williams – Director Mushahida Adhikari – Attorney Hoodah Abrahams Fayker – Attorney Cherith Sanger – Attorney Noluthando Ntlokwana – Attorney (resigned in June 2009) Stacey-Leigh Manoek – Attorney (joined June 2009) Jody Lee Fredericks – Legal advisor Sharon Brooks – Administrator Ingrid Johnson – Litigation secretary Aretha Louw – Litigation secretary Nwabisa Ntshibelo - Receptionist Estelle Malgas – Office assistant

# **Trustees**

Shaamela Cassiem – *chairperson* Shereen Mills Happy Masondo Teboho Makhalemele Alison Tilley Mary Caesar *(on sabbatical)* 

# **Funders**

Claude Leon Foundation Ford Foundation Finnish Embassy Heinrich Boll Foundation Hivos National Lotteries Board Norwegian Centre for Human Rights The Open Society Foundation The Open Society Initiative for Southern Africa Sigrid Rausing Trust Wallace Foundation

# Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) (NPO Registration Number 032/685/NPO)

Annual Financial Statements For the year ended December 31, 2009

Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

Index	Pages
Statement of Trustees' Responsibility and Approval	3
Report of Independent Auditors	2-3
Trustees' Report	4
Balance Sheet	5
Income Statement	6-7
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements	8-9
Annexure	10-11
General Information	
Country of registration and domicile	South Africa
Registered Office	7 <sup>th</sup> Floor, Constitution House 124 Adderley Street Cape Town 8001
Postal address	P O Box 5356 Cape Town 8000
Bankers	Standard Bank
Auditors	Ngubane & Co. Inc Chartered Accountants (S.A.)
Trust registration number	IT 3486/98

Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

## Statement of Trustees' Responsibility and Approval

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation and integrity of the financial statements and related information. The auditors are responsible for reporting on the fair presentation of the financial statements.

The trustees are also responsible for the trust's systems of internal financial control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the trustees to indicate that any material breakdown in the function of these controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the trustees have reason to believe that the Trust has adequate resources in place to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements which appear on pages 4-9 were approved by the trustees and are signed on their behalf by:

Trustee

June 26, 2010 Date

Date

1





Report of the Independent Auditors

# To the Trustees of Women's Legal Centre Trust

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Women's Legal Centre Trust, which comprise the balance sheet and the income statement as at 31 December 2009, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 4 to 9.

## Trustees' Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The trust's trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting practice in the manner required by the Trust Deed. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with South African Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.



25

\* Ocatend Accurate, \* Conditions \* foresic liverighters \*

NGUBANE & CO. INCORPORATED Reg. No. 2004/001416/21 4<sup>th</sup> Floor, Catnia Building Bella Rosa Village, Durban Road Tygervalley 7530

Suite 113, Private Bag X122 Tygervalley 7536

Tel: +27 21 914 4888 Fax: +27 21 914 4894 www.ngubane.co.za Offices also in Johannesburg, Durban, Mafikeng, Pretoria & Polokwane



· Orwised Jemustans · Consiltant · Ference Noreligibre ·

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the trustees, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Trust as of 31 December 2009 and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with the generally accepted accounting practice.

### Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw attention to the fact that the financial statements have not been drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in that assets are fully depreciated in the year of acquisition.

## Supplementary Information

We draw your attention to the fact that the supplementary annexure set out on pages 10 to 11 do not form part of the annual financial statements and is presented as additional information. We have not audited the information contained in the annexure and its content is therefore not part of our audit opinion.

Myline EG. Se

Ngubane & Co. Inc. CA (SA) Registered Auditors Cape Town 06 July 2010

Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

## **Trustees' Report**

The Trustees have pleasure in submitting the annual financial statements of the Trust for the year ended 31 December 2009.

# Main object

The main object of the Trust shall be to advance women's rights by conducting constitutional litigation and advocacy on gender issues.

# Trustees

The trustees of the Trust during the accounting period and the date of this report were:

S. Cassiem (Chairperson) A. Tilley H. Masondo M. Caesar S. Mills T. Makhalemele

## Post balance sheet events

The trustees are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that would materially affect the financial position of the Trust.



Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

**Balance Sheet** 

ASSETS	NOTES	2009 R	2008 R
Current assets Deposits and prepayments Trade and other receivables Cash and cash equivalents	2	4,975,673 56,044 89,922 4,829,707	1,235,312 57,190 1,716 1,176,405
Total assets		4,975,673	1,235,312

CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves		4,773,167	1,145,521
Initial donation		100	100
Retained funding	3	4,773,067	1,145,421
Current liablittles		202,506	89,791
Trade and other payables		117,985	89,792
Leave provision		84,522	
Total capital and ilabilities		4,975,673	1,235,312

1000

Women's Legal Centre Trust

(Registration Number IT 3486/98)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

Income Statement

	NOTES	2009	2008
			:8
INCOME		7,997,016	3,184,945
Donations and grants	- 4	5,303,597	2,921,269
Cost recovery		17,616	7,063
Interest received		116,660	123,293
Other income	5	2,559,143	133,320
EXPENDITURE		4,369,370	3,412,074
Employment costs		2,321,319	1,699,931
Salaries & benefits		2,231,115	1,526,063
Contributions		19,597	8,925
Supervision		31,992	27,410
Contultancies		38,365	112,689
Recruitment costs		250	24,844
Litigation costs		647,727	630,182
Advocacy & training		118,413	102,123
Information costs		289,566	228,822
Newsletters		23,282	36,124
Annual report		39,458	51,487
Law books & subscriptions		50,266	27,147
Material development.		115,426	50,870
Resource centre		13,880	10,405
Volunteer costs		1,505	704
Distribution costs		9,141	3,080
Study tour hosting		2010 C	20,358
Website		10,070	10,478
Internet/computer support		26,538	18,169
Governance costs		98,822	68,640
Trust costs		22,860	68,640
AGM and 10 year anniversary		75,962	
Administrative costs		471,494	435,876
Bank charges		20,007	19,491
Interest paid		252	893
Equipment rental and maintenance		40,809	34,266
Rental of offices and parking bays		300,414	269,340
Stationery and postage		26,669	29,143
Supplies		7,575	3,649
Sundries		8,140	6,084
SUCIONES		My arrive	

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

## Income Statement (Continued..)

	NOTES	2009 R	2008 R
Audit and accounting		174,590	149,055
Audit fees	r	53,554	60,363
Accounting fees	L	121,036	88,692
Professional fees	-	28,891	30,232
Law Society fees	F	7,202	4,399
Insurance		15,480	19,533
Professional Indemnity	L	6,209	6,300
Travel costs		44,505	10,450
Organisational and staff development		5,144	29,237
External evaluation		43,026	8
Capital expenditure		125,873	27,526
Office relocation	T T	120,603	
Computers & office equipment			26,226
Furniture & fittings		1,760	1,300
Equipment	L	3,510	· ·
NET SURPLUS OR (DEFICIT)		3,627,646	(227,129)
OPENING RETAINED FUNDING		1,145,421	1,372,550
CLOSING RETAINED FUNDING	-	4,773,067	1,145,421



Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

#### Notes to the Financial Statements

#### 1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the principal accounting policies of the Trust which are consistent in all material respects with those applied in the previous years, except as otherwise indicated.

31

Basis of Preparation The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as otherwise Indicated.

Revenue

Revenue comprises funding received from donations and grants. Revenue is recognised when it is received. Grant periods do not always correlate to the financial year end of the Trust and therefore balance of retained funding per funder is for expenditure to be incurred in the next financial year in terms of the funding contract.

Einancial Instruments Financial Instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, receivables and amounts payable. These instruments are generally carried at their estimated fair value.

#### Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are written off to the income statement on acquisition date against the funding received for this purpose.

A detailed fixed register is maintained and is available for inspection.

		2.009	2008
		R	R
2.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		
	Current accounts	62,712	8,754
	Trust bank account	12,399	21,993
	Investment accounts	2,924,582	1,143,659
	Foreign funds held at bank	1,829,375	
	Petty cash	639	2,000
		4,829,707	1,176,406

#### 3. RETAINED FUNDING ANALYSED BY FUNDER

Finnish Embassy	182,357	215,025
Ford Foundation		39,183
Heinrich Bohl Stichting	(24,327)	and the second
HIVD5	374,482	14,945
National Lotteries Fund	315,531	
OSISA	141,609	
Sigrid Rausing Trust	608,070	128,923
General Funds	3,175,345	747,345
	4,773,067	1,145,421

Women's Legal Centre Trust (Registration Number IT 3486/98) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued..)

		2009	2008
20	COLUME INT DOULDING		R
4.	GRANTS AND DONATIONS		
	Claude Leon Foundation	150,000	-
	Ford Foundation	681,895	12
	Foundation for Human Rights		
	Finnish Embassy	275,600	432,250
	Heinrich Bohl Stichtung	131,250	
	HIVOS	987,833	755,029
	National Lotteries Fund	775,870	
	NCHR	329,305	298,630
	Open Society Foundation for South Africa	500,000	700,000
	OSISA	271,802	
	Save the Children Sweden		
	Sigrid Rausing Trust	608,070	732,360
	Wallace Global Fund	588,503	2.74
	Other donations	3,469	3,000
		5,303,597	2,921,269
5,	OTHER INCOME		
	Contracted service - Study Tour		133,320
	Settlement re: lease concellation	681,768	
	Sponsorships for 10th Anniversary	45,000	
	Gruber Prize	1,829,375	
		and the second s	433 330
		2,559,143	133,320

6. TAXATION

The organisation is exempt from income tax under 10(1)(cN) as read with Section 30 of the Income Tax Act. No provision has been made for taxation in the current year.

# WOMEN'S LEGAL CENTRE TRUST

# AMALYSIS OF FUNDS BY FUNDER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

	Total	Claude Leon Foundation	Ford	Finnish Embausy	Heimich Bohl Siichlung	HIVOS Foundation	National Lotterius Fund	NCHR	Copen Society Foundation	OSISA	Signid Rausing Trust	Wallace Global Fund	General Funds
INCOME	7,997,016	150,000	569,100	281,015	131,250	CC8/186	775,870	139,654	500,000	271,802	606,070	\$88,502	2,681,125
Donisions and grants	5,303,507	150,000	681,895	275,600	131,250	001/190	775,870	329,305	500,000	271,802	609,070	569.502	3,470
Interest received	116,660			5,415				10,349					100,816
Cost recovery	17,618												17,016
Other Income	2,558,143									T			2,559,143
EXPENDITURE	4,369,370	000'651	721,079	313,682	155,578	628,295	460,339	339,654	500,000	130,153	128,922	588,502	253,125
Employment costs	2,321,319	115,590	409,050	107.750	48,452	300,000	368,878	159,500	Z70,000	120,000	51,202	260,282	64,522
Litgation costs	647.727	Π	58,674	77.249	47,323	70,000	1,220	111,079	100,000			182,182	
Advocacy & training	118,413		29,311	26,223	171,11	4,000		19,575		193		27,940	
Jeformation casts	269,565		22.703	S4,980	19,945	151,938				T			
Trust costs	59,822	27,962							22,860				48,000
Administrativo costa	471,494	6,443	111,548	3,514	23.437	78,708	90,241	49.500		10,000		58,098	
Audit and accounting	174,500		40,018	3,960	5,250				53,729	T	71,627	T	
Prolessional fees	28,891					15,480			115,61	T			
Travel costs	44,505	T	44,505										
Organisational and slaft development	5,144	T				5,144				T			
External evaluation	43,026					3,025	Π		40,000	T		T	
Capital expenditure	125,873		5,270							Π			120,603
NET SURPLUS OR DEFICIT	3,627,646	ŀ	(19,163)	(32,667)	(24,326)	112,925	316,631	·		141,609	479,148	•	2,428,000
OPENING RETAINED FUNDING	1,145,421		39,183	215,025		14,945					128,923	•	747,345
GLOSING RETAINED FUNDING	4,773,067	ŀ	·	182,358,	(24,328)	374,482	315,631	•	•	141,609	\$06,071	ŀ	3,175,345

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited

"The WLC has used the theme of San(bushmen) women for this Annual Report. All of the photographs used in this publication were taken by Neil Rusch for the book titled "Cederberg Rock Paintings" written by John Parkington which depicts photographs of the San tribes in rock art in the Cederberg, Western Cape area. We extend our special thanks to Neil Rusch for allowing us use his photographs in this publication free of charge.

In this Annual Report we have exclusively used photographs of San women in rock art because we wish to celebrate San women's invaluable contributions towards the survival of their people and specifically to dismiss the misconceptions of the sexual division of labour within the San tribes.

The San are known as a "hunter-gatherer" society in terms of which men are the hunters and women are the gatherers. The latter has been constructed as a lesser role in that any person capable of "walking" is said to be able to perform whilst the former has been constructed as the basis of the San's survival and sits at the heart of the evolution of the human species. It has further been said that women are naturally not inclined to hunt and thus opt to attend to gathering activities. This is a myth that is factually incorrect as gathering requires skill and knowledge of a wide range of vegetation. In addition, San women have a high status in the San society and are respected as leaders who have decision making powers and take ownership of water holes and foraging areas which provide water and food sources and directly contribute to the survival of the San Tribes.

The negative and harmful gender constructions that the hunter-gatherer myth has created supports the notion of gender discrimination being unfounded to the extent that it is based on the biological and physiological differences between men and women and is comparable to the many and more other (and in some cases more modern) gender constructions that support gender inequality and the unfair discrimination that flows from inequality. These constructions continue to feed the hardship and struggles that women face despite their many contributions to their families wellbeing, the labour market, economy and society at large. Women would contribute to society in different and more directly beneficial ways should gender roles not have been prescribed so strictly as these gender roles have dictated women's abilities.







